STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

JUL 31 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000476  
Lower Court Case No. 2010-CP-33-852

---

FRED HALCOMB, JR., #311091,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

**JEREMY A. THOMPSON**  
Attorney and Counselor at Law

Law Office of Jeremy A. Thompson, LLC  
P.O. Box 1834  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 779-2555  
(803) 753-9732 FAX

**ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.**

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

### **I.**

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that the prosecution did not violate Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by failing to disclose an interview conducted by the State's investigator Dale Long of potential witness Vander McCray?

### **II.**

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that the Petitioner's right to a fair trial was not violated by the heightened police presence inside and outside of the courtroom during his trial?

### **III.**

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the heightened police presence during trial?

### **IV.**

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the use of a stun belt on the Petitioner throughout the course of the trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner, Fred Halcomb, Jr., was charged in Marion County for murder. On August 29-September 1, 2005, the Petitioner proceeded to trial on this charge jointly with his co-defendant Luzenski Cottrell. The Petitioner was represented at this proceeding by G. Scott Bellamy, Esquire. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found the Petitioner guilty as charged. The Honorable J. Michael Baxley, presiding circuit judge, sentenced the Petitioner to life imprisonment.

The Petitioner timely appealed his conviction and sentence to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. He was represented on appeal by Robert Michael Dudek, then-Deputy Chief Appellate Defender. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 676 S.E.2d 149 (Ct. App. 2009). This Court subsequently denied certiorari on April 8, 2010.

On October 12, 2010, the Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief with the Marion County Clerk of Court. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on May 29-30, 2018, before the Honorable Craig D. Brown, presiding circuit judge. On February 14, 2019, the PCR court filed an Order of Dismissal which denied relief on all of the Petitioner's claims. On March 22, 2019, the Petitioner served his Notice of Appeal from Judge Brown's order.

Notice of appeal was timely served and filed. The Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

The murder charges in this case were brought against the Petitioner and his co-defendant Luzenski Cottrell following the death of the victim, Jonathan Love. At trial, the State's theory was that Cottrell killed Love at the Petitioner's direction following Love's botched arson attempt of the home belonging to an individual named Brett.

The evidence against the Petitioner largely came from his ex-girlfriend Dianne Lawson. According to Lawson, in December 2002, she heard the Petitioner and Cottrell discussing the plan to conduct the arson. App. p. 218, lines 10-23. The Petitioner wanted Cottrell to bring Love with him "to burn their house down, to kill them." App. p. 218, line 24-p. 219, line 3. Later, Cottrell left and Lawson heard the Petitioner discussing how to conduct the arson over the phone. App. p. 223, line 20-p. 224, line 7. After several conversations, the Petitioner and Lawson left to see how successful the arson had been; when the Petitioner realized that the arson had not been successful, the Petitioner became "very upset" and stated that the victim "was a liability." App. p. 226, line 21-p. 227, line 4.

A few days later, Lawson left with the Petitioner to a remote location in Marion County where they met the victim and Cottrell digging a deep, rectangular hole. App. pp. 232-234. The Petitioner and Lawson walked back to their vehicle; after some time, Cottrell and the victim came back as well for a smoke break and Lawson saw the Petitioner hand Cottrell a firearm. App. pp. 236-239. Cottrell and the victim then left the vehicle in the direction of the hole and Lawson heard gunshots. App. p. 239, lines 14-21. The Petitioner then walked in that direction as well and was gone for an hour. App. p. 239, lines 21-24. The Petitioner and Cottrell then returned to the vehicle, but the victim did not. App. p. 239, lines 24-25.

The victim's body was recovered in May 2003. See App. pp. 458-467. According to Dr. Allan Bennett, the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy of the victim, the victim died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds to the head and chest. App. p. 312, lines 1-6.

The Petitioner did not present any evidence at trial, nor did Cottrell. The Petitioner's primary defense was that Lawson was not credible and that Cottrell acted alone in killing the victim. Despite this defense, the jury convicted the Petitioner as charged.

## ARGUMENT

### **Standard of Review**

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee every criminal defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the moving party must show that defense counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that he was prejudiced by the errors and omissions of counsel such that he was deprived of a fair trial. Id. In other words, the petitioning party must show that but for counsel's errors and omissions, there is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. Id.

On appeal, a PCR court's factual findings will be upheld if there is any evidence of probative value supporting them. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 155, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A PCR court's legal findings are not afforded any deference and questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-840 (2018). "The appellate court will reverse the PCR court only where there is either no probative evidence to support the decision or the decision was controlled by an error of law." Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011).

- I. **The PCR court erred in concluding that the prosecution did not violate Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by failing to disclose an interview with potential witness Vander McCray.**

#### A. How the Issue Arose Below

In the Petitioner's Final Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief, he alleged that the State violated his right to due process by "fail[ing] to disclose a report of interview of Vander

McCray conducted by Dale Long who, upon information and belief, was the investigator for the Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office during the pendency of the underlying matter." App. p. 755. McCray was a jailhouse informant against the Petitioner's co-defendant Luzenski Cottrell, who was charged with multiple murder offenses in several counties.<sup>1</sup> On March 11, 2004, well over a year prior to the Petitioner's trial, McCray gave a statement to Investigator Dale Long with the Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office that

LUZENSKI had given approximately one-ounce of marijuana to Jonathon Love, which LOVE used and never paid for. MCCRAY stated LUZENSKI acted friendly towards LOVE so he would not be afraid. LUZENSKI then lured LOVE to an area in Marion County and had him to dig a grave for someone he was going to kill. MCCRAY reported that Luzenski admitted he shot LOVE in the head and chest once LOVE had dug the grave. MCCRAY stated LUZENSKI admitted that only he and LOVE were present when LOVE was murdered.

App. p. 1135.

At the PCR hearing, defense counsel testified that he was not provided McCray's statement to Investigator Long prior to or during trial. App. p. 1113, line 25-p. 1114, line 4. Neither prosecutor could recall providing McCray's statement to Investigator Long to defense counsel. See App. p. 925, lines 20-21 (Humphries); p. 1043, lines 15-16 (Hembree). Defense counsel further testified that he "would have liked to have had the opportunity to at least investigate" McCray's information regarding Cottrell. App. p. 1080, lines 10-12.

The PCR court denied relief on this claim. While the PCR court found that "Investigator Long's report of his interview with McCray was not disclosed," the PCR court concluded that relief was not warranted because the Petitioner could not show that "the statement was material in

---

<sup>1</sup> Cottrell was ultimately sentenced to death for the murder of a police officer in Horry County. See State v. Cottrell, 421 S.C. 622, 809 S.E.2d 423 (2017).

that there is any reasonable probability it would lead to useful evidence or affect the outcome of the trial.” App. pp. 1199-1200. Specifically, the PCR court found that

The statement itself represents an out of court statement by Investigator Long as to an out of court statement by McCray, as to alleged admissions by Cottrell. McCray did not testify at this hearing, so this Court would need to speculate on whether McCray would have truly provided testimony that was exculpatory to Applicant and that such testimony would be credible. This Court could not possibly know on the evidence presented if McCray was indicating Applicant [sic] was alone because the others were back at the car, or if Cottrell, as filtered through McCray, was claiming to be truly all alone in Marion County.

App. p. 1200. The Petitioner now claims that these findings were clearly erroneous, and that certiorari should be granted to review them.

#### B. Discussion

“[W]hen the State withholds from a criminal defendant evidence that is material to his guilt or punishment, it violates his right to due process of law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment.” Cone v. Bell, 556 U.S. 449, 469 (2009). There are “three components or essential elements of a Brady[v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)] prosecutorial misconduct claim: ‘The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching; that evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently, and prejudice must have ensued.’” Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 691 (2004) (quoting Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-282 (1999)). Stated differently, a Brady claim “is complete if the accused can demonstrate (1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, (2) it was in possession of or known to the prosecution, (3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and (4) it was material to guilt or punishment.” Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999) (internal footnote omitted). “The prejudice inquiry requires” a reviewing court to determine if the suppressed evidence “is ‘material’ to [the defendant’s] guilt.” Wolfe v. Clarke, 691 F.3d 410,

424 (4th Cir. 2012). “[E]vidence is ‘material’ within the meaning of Brady when there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cone, 556 U.S. at 469-470.

Here, the Brady elements are readily established. It is unquestioned that McCray’s information was in the possession of the prosecution and that it was not turned over to the defense prior to trial. Furthermore, the evidence is favorable for the Applicant as it is potentially exculpatory, given that it can be readily interpreted as an admission by the Applicant’s co-defendant that he acted alone in killing the victim. Finally, the evidence is material for largely the same reason. The Applicant’s entire defense rested on the premise that Cottrell acted alone in killing the victim and that the Applicant did not participate in the killing at all. See generally App. App. p. 185, lines 6-11 (“[T]he State’s theory is that my client wanted Mr. Love dead because of the botched arson. This statement is clearly in contradiction to that. And Mr. Cottrell had his own reasons personal to him as to why Mr. Love should be killed”); p. 581, lines 6-12 (“And I ask you to start at presumption of innocence and look and see if the State compiled the evidence ... piece by piece by piece by piece here against my client, Fred Halcomb, that he was out there, that he participated and aided and assisted and conspired and did all those things what evidence says he did that.”) Certainly, an admission that the Applicant’s co-defendant did precisely what the Applicant contended he did can be nothing less than material evidence. Consequently, the PCR court clearly erred in concluding that the statement was not material.

The PCR court also erred in dismissing this claim because it would have to speculate as to what McCray would have testified to at trial. As this Court has recently held, a PCR applicant need not necessarily present the testimony of a witness at the PCR hearing if it is clear from other sources what testimony would have been given at trial. See Martin v. State, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, \_\_\_

S.E.2d \_\_\_, Op. No. 27900 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 17, 2019) (holding that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony from the PCR applicant's mother establishing an alibi based on a statement from her in defense counsel's possession). McCray's potential testimony is not speculative: he would have testified that Cottrell killed the victim while they were alone and only after Cottrell had lured the victim to the location where he was shot. In other words, he would have corroborated the Petitioner's central defense that Cottrell, acting alone, lured the victim to the location where Cottrell killed him. There can be no evidence more material than evidence that supports the heart of the defense. This is particularly true given that the State's case against the Petitioner rested largely on the credibility of a single witness: Dianne Lawson. Consequently, the Petitioner respectfully submits that the PCR court's findings are clearly erroneous and should be reversed by this Court. Certiorari is warranted to review this claim.

- II. The PCR court erred in concluding that the Petitioner's right to a fair trial was not violated by the heightened police presence inside and outside the courthouse during the Petitioner's trial.**
- III. The PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the heightened security presence at trial.<sup>2</sup>**

A. How the Issues Arose Below

In the Petitioner's Final Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief, the Petitioner alleged that "the presence of uniformed law enforcement officers branded him with an unmistakable mark of guilt and conveyed the impression that Applicant was a dangerous individual." App. p. 757. The Petitioner also alleged that "Trial Counsel failed to object to the presence of the uniformed law enforcement officers in the courtroom and at the courthouse." App. p. 757. By way of general background, the Petitioner's trial was conducted at the Marion County Courthouse, which is a one-courtroom courthouse with only two entrances, one at the front and one at the rear of the first floor of the building. Potential jurors are left to congregate outside the courthouse's back door prior to jury selection. App. p. 994, lines 15-21. Once selected, they enter and exit out of the back door. App. p. 994, line 22-p. 995, line 8.

In support of this allegation, the Petitioner presented a significant amount of evidence during the PCR hearing regarding the police presence in and around the courthouse during his trial. In general, officers from Horry County, Marion County, and the South Carolina Department of Corrections were in the courthouse and officers from Florence County were likely in the

---

<sup>2</sup> These allegations are presented conjunctively as the parties and PCR court below appeared to address the heightened security claim both in terms of a free-standing due process claim as well as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Compare App. p. 1187 ("[B]ased on the evidence presented, this Court does not believe it impacted Applicant's ability to receive a fair trial") with p. 1187 ("This Court finds Applicant has not established that counsel's performance was deficient in this regard.") In an abundance of caution, the Petitioner has alleged error as to both methods of presentation of this claim.

courthouse. App. p. 996, lines 3-14. More specifically, the Petitioner was transported to and from the courthouse every day of the trial by at least five Horry County officers in a three-vehicle convoy. App. pp. 949-952. Eight to ten officers from Marion County were assigned to security detail for the trial. App. p. 999, line 17-p. 1000, line 1. Officers remained stationed outside the courthouse, including an officer who had what appeared to be an assault rifle. App. p. 1005, line 18-p. 1007, line 4. All told, approximately fifteen to twenty officers were present in the courtroom during the trial. App. p. 1008, lines 12-24. The prosecution even referenced the significant amount of police presence during its closing argument. See App. p. 555, lines 22-24 (“What kind of people could cause a witness in a protected courtroom with armed deputies all around, what kind of people could inspire such fear.”)

Despite the heightened police presence, defense counsel did not make any motion with regard to the number of officers in the courtroom. He testified at the PCR hearing that there were more police officers “than normal” inside the courtroom. App. p. 1093, lines 18-23. He further testified, however, that he did not make a motion because he did not find it unduly prejudicial. App. p. 1094, lines 2-17.

The PCR court denied relief on these claims, finding that “heightened security was warranted” because “Applicant and co-defendant collectively were accused of three murders and an attempted arson that seemed to be an attempted murder, they both had contacts with the criminal elements of their county and, as Senator Hembree points out, Applicant had the ability to recruit people for his criminal plans.” App. p. 1187. The PCR court then found that “the security provided during trial was not inherently prejudicial” and that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the heightened security presence during trial. App. p. 1187. The Petitioner now

contends that these findings are clearly erroneous, and that certiorari should be granted by this Court.

### B. Discussion

“When a courtroom arrangement is challenged as inherently prejudicial, the question is whether there is ‘an unacceptable risk ... of impermissible factors coming into play.’” State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 175, 478 S.E.2d 260, 270-271 (1996) (quoting Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 570 (1986)). “Under this standard, a Holbrook claim is difficult to establish, and a reviewing court must assess ‘the scene presented to jurors and determine whether what they saw was so inherently prejudicial as to pose an unacceptable threat to the defendant’s right to a fair trial.’” Hill v. Ozmint, 339 F.3d 187, 199 (4th Cir. 2003) (quoting Holbrook, 475 U.S. at 572).

In this case, it is important to note the physical structure and layout of the courthouse and courtroom, particularly from the perspective of a juror. Upon arrival at the courthouse, a juror would have gone through security where numerous armed officers, including at least one armed with an assault rifle, stood guard. That juror would then go to the one courtroom in the courthouse and observe a trial where at least fifteen to twenty visible and armed officers stood watch over the trial. That juror would have had to know that all of the police officers in and around the courtroom, and the courthouse in general, were there for one purpose—this specific trial—as no other court activity could take place at the Marion County Courthouse while this trial unfolded.

Under these circumstances, the increased police presence at the Applicant’s trial was highly prejudicial. No reasonable juror could have come to the courthouse and not been unduly influenced by the extreme measures the authorities took to ensure the security of the courthouse. Every moment of the juror’s experience, from the juror’s entry to the courthouse, to observing the trial, to leaving the courthouse, would have been done under an atmosphere dominated by police

officers. There can be no question as to the adverse effect this would have had on the juror's mind as to the Petitioner's guilt. Consequently, it is overwhelmingly likely that "what the [jurors] saw was so inherently prejudicial as to pose an unacceptable threat to the defendant's right to a fair trial." Holbrook, 475 U.S. at 572. See Woods v. Duggar, 923 F.2d 1454 (11th Cir. 1991) (finding a Holbrook violation where dozens of prison officers observed a murder trial). Accordingly, under these circumstances, a Holbrook violation occurred.

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