STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Marion County
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 02 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Fred Halcomb,

Petitioner,

vs.

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2019-000476

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Petitioner failed to show a double-hearsay statement by a prolific jail house informant was material under Brady because the statement was consistent with the prosecution's theory of the case and Petitioner failed to meet his burden of showing a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different if the statement was disclosed to trial counsel.

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in denying his claim of a Brady violation because the prosecution failed to turn over a statement by a noted jailhouse informant, Vander McCray. McCray did not testify at trial, although he was on the State's witness list. App. p. 21, line 6. The statement, contending Cottrell said he was alone when he shot Love, was consistent with the prosecution's theory of the case that Cottrell shot Love by the grave in the woods while Petitioner waited with Lawson by his car. Even assuming the statement was potentially exculpatory, it was not material. In response to a question posed by Petitioner's counsel, trial counsel testified it was "very speculative" the outcome of the trial would have been different if the notes of the interview were disclosed. App. p. 1117, lines 17-24.

“[S]uppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963).

Brady is based on the requirement of due process. To succeed on a Brady claim, the defendant must show: 1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, 2) it was in possession of or known to the prosecution, 3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and 4) was material to the guilt or punishment. Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999). The prosecution has the duty to disclose Brady evidence even in the absence of a request by the accused. United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 107 (1976).

“Materiality of evidence is determined based on the reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different had the evidence been disclosed to the defense.” Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 384, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). “[T]he materiality element of a Brady claim requires a collective assessment of whether introduction of the exculpatory evidence might have affected the outcome of the trial.” See Winston v. Kelly, 592 F.3d 535, 556 (4th Cir. 2010). The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information may be helpful to the defense in its own investigation is insufficient to establish constitutional materiality under Brady. United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109-10 (1976). The materiality standard constitutes a higher standard than “the customary harmless error standard.” Id. at 111-12.

Evidence is exculpatory and favorable if it “may make the difference between conviction and acquittal” had it been “disclosed and used effectively.” United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667

(1985). “Evidence is material if it is likely to have changed the verdict.” United States v. Wilson, 624 F.3d 640, 661 (4th Cir. 2010) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The United States Supreme Court explained:

This special status explains both the basis for the prosecution’s broad duty of disclosure and our conclusion that not every violation of that duty necessarily establishes that the outcome was unjust. Thus the term “Brady violation” is sometimes used to refer to any breach of the broad obligation to disclose exculpatory evidence – that is, to any suppression of so called “Brady material” – although strictly speaking, there is never a real “Brady violation” unless the nondisclosure was so serious that there is a reasonable probability that the suppressed evidence would have produced a different verdict.

Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281 (1999).

Petitioner claims the State committed a Brady violation by not disclosing notes of an interview by the Solicitor’s investigator, Dale Long, of Vander McCray. The report, dated March 25, 2004, attempts to memorialize an interview from March 11, 2004, and was accompanied by a cover memorandum from Investigator Long indicating Long interviewed McCray and, “MCCRAY stated he has been in Maximum Security with COTTRELL for several months, and that COTTRELL has confided a great deal in him, yet he was very thin with details.” App. p. 1155.

The statement indicates the following:

MCCRAY reported LUZENSKI had given approximately one-ounce of marijuana to Jonathon Love, which LOVE used and never paid for. MCCRAY stated LUZENSKI acted friendly towards LOVE so he would not be afraid. LUZENSKI then lured LOVE to an area in Marion County and had him to dig a grave for someone he was going to kill. MCCRAY reported that LUZENSKI admitted he shot LOVE in the head and chest once LOVE had dug the grave. MCCRAY stated LUZENSKI admitted that only he and LOVE were present when LOVE was murdered.

App. p. 1135.

Both Humphries and Senator Hembree testified that while the document was something they normally would disclose, both adamantly believed the statement was not exculpatory, although they both testified it was not intentionally withheld. Senator Hembree explained the statement was actually inculpatory because it supported Lawson's testimony that she and Petitioner were away from the grave site and out of eyesight when Cottrell shot Love. App. p. 917; p. 1034-35. As to the contention that Cottrell's motive to kill Love was over marijuana, Senator Hembree and Humphries both noted that was not exculpatory because Cottrell and Petitioner were confederates involved in drug transactions together. Senator Hembree explained no other evidence corroborated the claim about a dispute over Love failing to pay for marijuana. App. pp. 921-22; p. 928-29; pp. 1035-37; pp. 1046-47. Petitioner was found in Texas with fifty pounds of marijuana he planned to sell a few months prior to Love's murder. App. p. 881, lines 17-20. Humphries also noted because Love knew Cottrell, it "was beyond the pale" that Love would not pay Cottrell for marijuana. App. p. 929. Even Petitioner, in his petition, claims the statement is only "potentially exculpatory." Pet. p. 9.

Petitioner claims, "Certainly, an admission that the Applicant's co-defendant did precisely what the Applicant contended he did can be nothing less than material evidence." Pet. p. 9. However, the reality is the statement is an admission that Cottrell did precisely what **the prosecution** contended he did. Like the prosecution's theory of the case and the evidence presented, Cottrell – not Halcomb – lured Love to Marion County and had Love dig his grave. Further, consistent with the State's case, Cottrell – not Halcomb, shot Victim. Further, Halcomb was not present, and neither

was Lawson, when Cottrell shot Love – they were back at the car.¹ The Statement is not material because it is consistent with the State’s case.

Petitioner’s interpretation, that the McCray statement is exculpatory because it claims Petitioner was not present at the murder, is contrary to the remainder of the record. Under Petitioner’s interpretation, if Cottrell was alone in Marion County with Love, then Lawson would not be present either. However, the evidence overwhelmingly corroborated Lawson’s account that put her in Marion County at the gravesite as events unfolded. Lawson’s testimony is corroborated significantly by (1) Cottrell’s admissions to Bolton that he shot Love; (2) forensic evidence linking the gun found in Cottrell’s car to the bullet recovered from Love; (3) Bolton’s account of a phone call with Cottrell and Halcomb who were both mad when she did not see evidence of a successful arson; (4) Bolton’s testimony that she saw Halcomb with two brand new shovels; (5) Bolton’s testimony that Halcomb’s fiancé discarded the shovels in a dumpster after Christmas, 2002; (6) evidence that she knew Victim was buried in a rural plot before the body was found; (7) evidence from the land owner that Petitioner and Cottrell visited the same rural plot on a previous occasion; and (8) law enforcement’s testimony that Lawson’s map of the immediate area of the plot was mostly accurate. As trial counsel argued to the jury during closing argument, “Now, let me tell you this, Dianne Lawson knew something about what happened in Marion County ain’t no doubt about it.”

¹ Trial counsel’s closing argument underscores the statement’s consistency with the State’s case: “[T]he evidence is that at the time of the killing the only evidence produced by the state is that my client was in another location out of eyesight, could not see where the murder happened with the only witness who was there.” App. p. 523, lines 4-8. Counsel argued Lawson’s testimony only established mere presence and argued the evidence only showed Petitioner led her away from the scene while “Cottrell went back into the woods and some shots were fired.” App. p. 523, lines 14-25.

App. p. 581. The statement does not support Petitioner's interpretation unless the contention was Lawson lied by placing herself at the scene of murder, a rather counterintuitive supposition.

For his part, trial counsel testified that in his view, the statement was open to both interpretations and believed the document should have been turned over, although he noted he never had any discovery issues before with either of the prosecutors. App. p. 1080.

Counsel testified he would have liked the opportunity to investigate the statement, but noted, "Now, as to could I have used it, would I have used it, I can't really say. There would certainly have been problems with Mr. McCray on some credibility issues because of his history and some other things." App. p. 1080, lines 2-17. Counsel admitted without knowing what McCray might actually say, he was unable to determine if he could use the statement or call McCray to testify. Counsel explained, "[C]learly he was in a position of looking for some sort of assistance from the government, which I obviously could not give him." App. p. 1082, lines 5-11. Counsel expounded on that point further, "[A]s the solicitor Mr. Humphries indicated, you know, you get these letters, hey, I've got information, you know, you get these letters, hey, I've got information, I've got information and I want to go home, you know. I didn't get a letter from him saying, hey, I want to help Mr. Halcomb. So I don't know if he would have any willingness to help me or not." App. p. 1082, lines 12-18.

In Long's interview, the report indicated McCray also claims he spoke to Cottrell about the shooting of Officer Joe McGarry in Horry County. McCray claims Cottrell said he was driving and pulled over in a traffic stop and that Cottrell was holding a pistol by his leg when he approached the vehicle. App. p. 1135. Testimony from both prosecutors highlighted factual inaccuracies in

McCray's statement regarding the McGarry murder. Both prosecutors and Petitioner testified the murder did not occur during a traffic stop. Instead, McGarry entered Dunkin Donuts as Cottrell and Petitioner walked out the store. McGarry approached Cottrell and asked for his identification. Cottrell retrieved his gun from his waistband, not by his leg as stated in the McCray statement. Senator Hembree testified there was no evidence McGarry was following Cottrell and taking photographs, as claimed in the interview. App. pp. 888-89; p. 918; pp. 1035-36; p. 1135.

The State introduced a letter into evidence at the PCR hearing addressed to Solicitor Hembree, from McCray, dated April 31, 2004 – after the interview with Dale Long. The letter informs Hembree, “Well I have some more info on the Joe McGary [sic] Case plus I have more info about these two guys, Mr. Contrell [sic], Mr. Fred. I talk to Mr. Fred and he told me the hole [sic] story about what had happen that night he stated that.” App. pp. 1158-59.

The letter provides a new set of facts describing the McGarry murder which more closely track the actual events of that case. The letter further reads, “the reason that [I] told that guy what I told him is because I was scared these guys have pull with some big people” App. p. 1158. The letter concludes under McCray's signature, “There is a lot to these guys and I'm willing to put you down and I will take your little test.” App. p. 1159.

Trial counsel observed McCray appears to “back up” in this letter on the statement McCray previously gave to Investigator Long. McCray is continuing to ask the prosecutors for help. Counsel also expressed concern over a statement in the letter that McCray claimed to have been talking with Petitioner. Counsel explained, “Because potentially the concern is he's got – he's looking to give information on maybe Mr. Halcomb as well. Probably his main thought is, you got a guy who's

killed a police officer, but I've also got this other guy with two murders, maybe I can give information on both of them. And that would be a concern." App. p. 323, line 24 – p. 324, line 5.

McCray was well known to the prosecutors. Humphries testified McCray "was always looking for a deal." App. p. 924, lines 2-5. Senator Hembree later echoed this observation. App. p. 1037. Senator Hembree explained, "He was forever reaching out trying to get somebody to give him a deal and to try to get him to – you know, I want to help you, I want to give you information." App. p. 1037, lines 11-14.

Senator Hembree explained, "Even though we knew Vander McCray, and we kind of knew he wasn't a credible guy and probably nobody that we would use, we still wanted – you know, we wanted to go out and at least check it out. And that's what Dale Long did here." App. p. 1038, lines 6-14. Senator Hembree noted jailhouse informants often will "get one fact or they might read about it in the newspaper, they might hear it from – they might hear a guy say something, you never know. But they might see it on the news or hear it from their cousin. And then all of a sudden they take that one fact and they weave the rest of the story around it, and they got something to say." App. p. 1039, lines 3-11. Senator Hembree explained, "Well, this is pretty classic, a lot of inaccurate facts weaved in with one or two accurate facts. But it's a pretty common pattern, I mean among inmate snitches." App. p. 1039, lines 12-15.

Petitioner's PCR testimony impeached McCray's April 2004 letter. Petitioner claimed at the hearing that he never met McCray before. App. pp. 815-816, p. 817, lines 15-17, p. 889, lines 8-10. Petitioner changed his answer again to admit they were in the same dorm for a month when Petitioner went to prison after Petitioner was convicted, but he claimed he never talked to McCray.

App. p. 889, lines 11-23. Petitioner testified that if McCray claimed he had a conversation with Petitioner, that would be a lie. App. p. 890, lines 17-19. Note the tone of the April 2004 letter which suggests McCray is claiming to hold incriminating – not exculpatory – information about Petitioner. App. pp. 1158-59.

Asked on cross-examination if it was possible the outcome of the trial could have been different if the notes of the McCray interview were disclosed, trial counsel commented, “The word possible is such a big word. I mean, it’s possible, you know, that we have an earthquake tonight or today or a tsunami, but it’s not – it’s too speculative for me to give a definitive answer. I guess anything is possible, but without knowing the specifics of Vander McCray’s full statement and those sort of things, it’s just – **it’s very speculative.**” PCR Tr. p. 357, lines 17-24.

The PCR court found Investigator Long’s report of his interview with McCray was not disclosed and noted that although it believed the non-disclosure was not intentional, the fact disclosure was non-intentional did not change the analysis. App. p. 1199. The PCR court noted it agreed with the prosecutors that “the statement was not inconsistent with the State’s evidence at trial, although it certainly would be preferable such a document would have been turned over, as the prosecutors acknowledge.” App. p. 1199.

The PCR court found Petitioner failed to prove his claim because he failed to show “the statement was material in that there is any reasonable probability it would lead to useful evidence or affect the outcome of trial.” App. p. 1200. The PCR court concluded as follows:

. . . The statement itself represents an out of court statement by Investigator Long as to an out of court statement by McCray, as to alleged admissions by Cottrell. McCray did not testify at this hearing, so this Court would need to speculate on whether McCray would

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